#### NO. 47610-0-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

## AUDRA MINIER,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Derek Vanderwood, Judge

#### OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-9301

#

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State's lead witness, Police Officer Ron Stevens, was observed by appellant Audra Minier's fiancé speaking with three other witnesses for the State in the hallway outside the court room after Officer Stevens testified. The trial court erred in declining to dismiss the case with prejudice, or in the alternative, to exclude testimony of the three witnesses who were observed speaking with the officer.
- 2. The trial court erred in entering Findings of Fact 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Bench Trial). Clerks Paper (CP) 31.
- 3. The trial court erred in entering Conclusions of Law 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Bench Trial). CP 36-37.
- 4. The trial court erred in allowing the defendant to be represented by counsel who provided ineffective assistance in failing to move to exclude witnesses from the courtroom prior to trial pursuant Evidence Rule 615.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. When a State's witness is observed talking with other witnesses about relevant matters that appear to pertain to the case, albeit in the absence of an order excluding witnesses from the courtroom, does it constitute

government misconduct and is the presumptive remedy dismissal with prejudice? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, and 3)

2. Whether the trial court erred by allowing Ms. Minier to be represented by counsel who provided ineffective assistance by failing to move to exclude witnesses from the courtroom until after each testified? (Assignment of Error 4)

#### C. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Sherlyn Eaton is employed as a loss prevention officer for Craft Warehouse, a chain store selling household and art items. Report of Proceedings (RP)(4/27/15) at 73, 74. On January 21, 2014, she was working at the Craft Warehouse located on Mill Plain Boulevard in Vancouver, Clark County, Washington. RP (4/27/15) at 75.

At trial, Ms. Eaton testified that from a "catwalk" located above the cash registers in the store, she saw Ms. Minier enter the store with a toddler and another person, and obtain a shopping cart. RP (4/27/15) at 76. Ms. Eaton saw Ms. Minier place two clear plastic organizers in the cart, and then saw her take off her coat and put it in the cart over the plastic containers. RP (4/27/15) at 77. After approximately 45 minutes, Ms. Minier left the store

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The record consists of two volumes. Volume 1 contains hearings dated November 20, 2014, February 24, 2015, April 23, 2015, and April 24, 2015. Volume 2 contains April 27, 2015 (bench trial), and May 4, 2015 (sentencing).

through the front exit with the cart, but did not go through a checkout stand. RP (4/27/15) at 78.

Ms. Eaton left the catwalk and went through a door that leads to the sidewalk at the front of the building. RP (4/17/15) at 79. Ms. Eaton saw Ms. Minier outside the store with the shopping cart looking at tote bags on display near the front entrance of the store. RP (4/27/15) at 78. Ms. Eaton called for another Craft Warehouse employee to come to the store entrance to act as a witness. RP (4/27/15) at 78. An employee named Abby Crawford responded to the request. RP (4/27/15) at 78.

Ms. Minier walked off the sidewalk, through the thoroughfare in front of the store and into the parking lot to a parked vehicle and Ms. Eaton and Ms. Crawford followed. RP (4/27/15) at 79. In the parking lot, Ms. Eaton identified herself to Ms. Minier as store security. RP (4/17/15) at 80. She stated that Ms. Minier said that she had forgotten about the organizers in the cart and handed them to Ms. Eaton. RP (4/27/15) at 81. Ms. Eaton testified that she told her that she needed to accompany her back into the store, and Ms. Minier refused. RP (4/27/15) at 81. Ms. Minier had what Ms. Eaton described as a red duffle bag in the cart. RP (4/27/15) at 81. Ms. Eaton reached for the duffle bag and stated that Ms. Minier grabbed it and said that she had to identify what Ms. Eaton believed was in the bag. RP (4/17/15) at

81. Ms. Eaton stated that she positioned herself between Ms. Minier and the vehicle, and that she was "was getting really aggressive," using profanity, and then shoved her out of the way. RP (4/27/15) at 82, 83. Ms. Eaton testified that she produced a pair of handcuffs, at which point Ms. Minier opened the red bag and withdrew a baby quilt kit and a quarter of a yard of material and tossed it at Ms. Eaton and then continued to try to leave. RP (4/27/15) at 84, 85. Ms. Eaton grabbed Ms. Minier's arm, braced her against the side of the vehicle and handcuffed her right wrist. RP (4/27/15) at 86. She said that Ms. Minier was swearing and Ms. Eaton continued to try to subdue Ms. Minier, who was considerably larger than Ms. Eaton, by "wrapping her chest" to bring her to the ground in order to put the handcuff on her left wrist, which were dangling from her right wrist. RP (4/27/15) at 62-63, 87.

Ms. Eaton said that as she tried to pull her back, Ms. Minier bit her right arm. RP (4/27/15) at 89. After that, Ms. Eaton said that Ms. Minier dropped to the ground and screamed that her back was hurt. RP (4/27/15) at 90.

Ms. Eaton said that the bite broke the skin and was extremely painful, and that she still has a scar from the bite. RP (4/27/15) at 92. Exhibits 1 and 2.

During the altercation, Ms. Minier used her to cell phone to record the

incident. RP (4/27/15) at 104, 133, 134. In the video, which is riddled with profanity by both persons, Ms. Minier tells Ms. Eaton that she is "being videotaped right now" and that Ms. Eaton had "no right to touch [her]." RP (4/27/15) at 134. Ms. Minier is heard to refer to her leg, and Ms. Eaton angrily asks if Ms. Minier bit her. RP (4/27/15) at 124. Last, while both are on the ground, Ms. Minier swears and then demands that Ms. Eaton get off her. RP (4/27/15) at 134-35.

Ms. Eaton remained on top of Ms. Minier until police arrived at the scene. RP (4/27/15) at 90-92.

Vancouver Police Officer Ron Stevens arrived at the store and saw Ms. Eaton standing over a woman on the ground. RP (4/17/15) at 35. He stated that Ms. Minier said that she had a medical issue and noticed that Ms. Eaton was injured. RP (4/27/15) at 39. He photographed Ms. Eaton's arm. Exhibits 1 and 2. Ms. Minier was taken to the hospital. Officer Stevens said that he also spoke briefly with Ms. Minier's husband on a cell phone handed to her by Ms. Minier, but told him that he was not a witness to the incident and ended the conversation. RP (4/27/15) at 40.

The value of the items obtained by Ms. Eaton from the cart was approximately \$32.00. CP 32.

Ms. Minier testified that she went to Craft Warehouse on January 21,

2014 with her friend Jennifer and her daughter, who was 23 months old at the time. RP (4/27/15) at 114, 115. She put two clear plastic containers in the cart, and said that the duffle bag in the cart to which Ms. Eaton referred was actually her child's diaper bag. RP (4/27/15) at 125. She said that it was hot in the store and she put her jacket on top of the diaper bag while it was in the cart. RP (4/27/15) at 125. She testified that her son needed a band uniform and her daughter was getting anxious and grabby, so she left the store to go to Walmart to look for a band uniform for her son. She said that she had picked up a quilting kit and other things that were in the front of the cart. RP (4/27/15) at 126. She testified that they left in a "mad rush" and did not realize that the items were still in the cart. RP (4/27/15) at 126. She denied that she put items in the diaper bag, and that it contained only diapers and baby wipes. RP (4/27/15) at 126, 127. She said the diaper bag was large and that the plastic containers and quilting kit were under the bag. RP (4/27/15) at 127.

Ms. Minier said that she had back surgery on December 6, 2014, for a bulging disc. RP (4/27/15) at 128. She stated that her lip was swollen from getting hit by Ms. Eaton's arm during the altercation. RP (4/27/15) at 137. She stated that her lip was swollen from the inside because her mouth was closed when Ms. Eaton's arm hit it. RP (4/27/15) at 138.

Following the incident, she was taken to the hospital where the injury was photographed. RP (4/27/15) at 137. Exhibit 7.

Ms. Minier denied that she purposely dropped to the ground, as alleged by Ms. Eaton, Cassidy Lucas, and Jennifer Hill in their testimony. RP (4/27/15) at 89, 114, 121, 135. She said that when they were struggling, Ms. Eaton got behind her and had her arm across her neck and that she was having a hard time breathing. RP (4/27/15) at 135. She said that they both stumbled and that they both fell. RP (4/27/15) at 135. After they both landed on the ground, Ms. Eaton got on top of her and put her knee in her chest and then put the handcuff on her right wrist. RP (4/27/15) at 135. She said that when she fell, she landed on the incision area where she had had surgery. RP (4/27/15) at 135. She denied that she bit Ms. Eaton, and said that she was unable to physically put anyone's arm in her mouth because she can not open her mouth very wide due to TMJ disorder. RP (4/27/15) at 136. She stated, "my jaw locks. It doesn't open wide enough." RP (4/27/15) at 136. She testified that she can open her mouth "[b]arely enough to eat a hot dog, just the dog itself, no bun." RP (4/27/15) at 137.

Ms. Minier stated that Ms. Eaton's injury may have occurred when her arm went across her mouth when they fell, and was "shoved in and got bit." RP (4/27/15) at 137.

Ms. Minier was charged by the Clark County Prosecutor's Office by second amended information with assault in the third degree and theft in the third degree. RCW 9A.36.031(1)(a), RCW 9A.56.050(1)(a), 9A.56.0202(1)(a). CP 21.

Ms. Minier waived jury trial. RP (4/23/15) at 20, 21, CP 22.

Neither counsel moved for exclusion of witnesses pursuant to ER 615 at the beginning of trial. RP (4/27/15) at 32.

At trial, after Ms. Crawford testified, defense counsel moved for mistrial, stating that Ms. Minier's fiancé—James Henline—while in the hallway outside the courtroom, overhead an officer discussing the case with witnesses. RP (4/27/15) at 65. The court brought Officer Stevens and several unidentified persons into the courtroom. RP (4/27/15) at 66. When notified by the judge that there was concern that the officer was discussing the case in the hallway, Officer Stevens shook his head, indicating that he had not talked about the case with witnesses. RP (4/27/15) at 66. Three unidentified parties also said "no" when asked if there was any discussion of the case. RP (4/27/15) at 66. The witnesses, including Ms. Eaton and Officer Stevens, were placed under oath and again responded that they had not discussed the case. RP (4/27/15) at 67. The court then directed the witnesses to step outside and refrain from discussing the case. RP (4/27/15)

James Henline, who identified himself as Ms. Minier's fiancé, stated that during the trial he left the courtroom and went into the hallway and overheard three female witnesses sitting on a bench with an officer standing facing them. RP (4/27/15) at 69. He stated that he heard him refer to "bite" and "speaking about locations in the parking lot, where people were." RP (4/27/15) at 69. Three women testified after Officer Stevens: Ms. Eaton, Cassidy Lucas, and Jennifer Hill. RP (4/27/15) at 73-108, 110-117, 119.

After Mr. Henline's testimony, defense counsel moved for dismissal of the case. The State responded that "it's not consistent with the portion of Officer Stevens' investigation of testimony that he would be discussing anything about the parking lot." RP (4/27/15) at 71. The court then denied the motion for mistrial. RP (4/27/15) at 71. The court found:

I don't believe there's an adequate showing of prejudice that would be involved here, not only from the testimony that was provided—I don't believe there's an adequate basis for that. But also, there wasn't a request from the parties to even exclude witnesses from the courtroom prior to starting the trial necessarily either.

The witnesses have been outside, but there wouldn't necessarily be a basis for precluding from even hearing the testimony that's been presented today, unless you have a different position on that, Mr. McAleer, than what I'm aware of.

RP (4/27/15) at 71.

The court convicted Ms. Minier of both counts. RP (4/27/15) at 163. CP 40. The court entered findings of fact and conclusion of law on May 4, 2015. RP (5/4/15) at 169, CP 31-37.

At sentencing, the court imposed a standard range sentence of 40 days in custody, with 10 days to be converted to partial confinement in the form of work crew. RP (5/4/15) at 176, CP 42.

Timely notice of appeal was filed May 11 and May 20, 2015. CP 61, 91. This appeal follows.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# 1. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DECLINED TO DISMISS THE CASE.

Due process guarantees accused persons a fair trial. U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. Consistent with due process, a new trial is properly granted for egregious government misconduct, even absent a showing of prejudice. *State v. Cory*, 62 Wn.2d 371, 377, 382 P.2d 1019 (1962) (reversing where sheriff eavesdropped on conversation between defendant and his counsel); *State v. Granacki*, 90 Wn. App. 598, 604, 90 P.2d 667 (1997). "It is morally incongruous for the State to flout constitutional rights and at the same time demand that its citizens observe the law...." *Cory*, 62 Wn.2d at 378.

In *Granacki*, the prosecutor designated a police officer as lead detective to remain in the courtroom and assist the prosecution during trial. *Granacki*, 90 Wn. App. at 600. During a court recess, the officer covertly read some of defense counsel's notes that were sitting on counsel table. The officer was later seen talking to a juror, despite the court's order that the parties have no contact with the jurors. *Id.* The trial court dismissed the charges with prejudice, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* at 601. The Court of Appeals found that the detective had abused the trust placed in him by the trial court in permitting him to remain in the courtroom to assist the prosecutor. *Id.* at 603. It held that the detective's egregious misconduct warranted dismissal with prejudice. *Id.* at 604.

In this case, neither counsel moved to exclude witnesses from the courtroom pursuant to ER 615. However, Officer Stevens was well aware that the case involved several contested issues of fact.

As in *Granacki*, the trial court was presumably confident in Officer Stevens' integrity and ability to adhere to commonsense, albeit unordered courtroom decorum by not discussing testimony with persons waiting to testify. The rule is sufficiently well known that discussing testimony with a witness could constitute witness tampering. The officer's conduct as described by Mr. Henline is even more egregious given Officer Stevens

testified that he has eighteen years of experience. At a minimum, he should have been aware that his contact with the three upcoming witnesses could have reasonably been construed as witness tampering. See RCW 9A.72.120. Thus, his out of court contact with the witnesses constitutes egregious misconduct.

In cases where the there has been a violation of an exclusion order, the trial court has discretion to determine what sanction to impose for violation of the order. *State v. Dixon*, 37 Wn. App. 867, 877, 684 P.2d 725 (1984). Generally, there are three possible sanctions: (1) holding the witness in contempt; (2) allowing cross examination regarding the violation and/or comments about the violation in closing argument; and (3) excluding the witness's testimony. *State v. Skuza*, 156 Wn.App. 866, 896, 235 P.3d 842 (2010) (citing Karl B. Tegland, 5A Washington Practice: Evidence Law and Practice § 615.5, at 627-30 (5th ed.2007)).

Here, although there was no violation of an exclusion order, the State's witness appears to have engaged in misconduct. Despite this, the court denied defense counsel's motion for dismissal and found no prejudice to the defendant. RP (4/27/15) at 71.

The appellant submits that the prejudice is evident by virtue of the alleged contact with witnesses itself. In this case the court's ultimate ruling

depended almost exclusively on witness credibility. The judge could have been convinced that Ms. Minier unintentionally left the store with the items contained in the cart and that the bite was unintentionally inflicted while Ms. Eaton attempted to handcuff Ms. Minier. However, the questioned witness contact created a potential for tailoring the testimony of the three witnesses following Officer Stevens. The actions of an officer with an 18 year career—even in the absence of a specific order precluding discussion of testimony with other witnesses and excluding witnesses from the courtroom—constitute prejudicial governmental misconduct meriting dismissal of the charges, or in the alternative, the remedies promulgated in *Skuza*.

# 2. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO MOVE TO EXCLUDE WITNESSES PURSUANT TO ER 615,

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22. A defendant is denied this right when his attorney's conduct "(1) falls below a minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney conduct, and (2) there is a probability that the outcome would be different but for the attorney's conduct." *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 663, 845 P.2d 289 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674,

104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944 (1993). The right to counsel means the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Riley, 122 Wn.2d 772, 780, 863 P.2d 554 (1993) citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 686. A defendant has not had effective assistance of counsel when the performance of counsel was deficient and the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Riley, 122 Wn.2d at 780.

To establish the first prong of the *Strickland* test, the defendant must show that "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances." *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229-30, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). To establish the second prong, the defendant "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case" in order to prove that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226. Rather, only a reasonable probability of such prejudice is required. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693; *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the case. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

Counsel's legitimate strategy or tactics do not constitute ineffective assistance unless, those tactics would be considered incompetent by lawyers of ordinary training and skill in the criminal law." *State v. Osborne*, 102 Wn.2d

87, 99, 684 P.2d 683 (1984).

In this case, defense counsel's inexplicably failed to move to exclude witnesses pursuant to ER 615 at the beginning of trial.

Washington's ER 615 provides:

At the request of a party the court may order witnesses excluded so that they cannot hear the testimony of other witnesses, and it may make the order of its own motion. This rule does not authorize exclusion of (1) a party who is a natural person, or (2) an officer or employee of a party which is not a natural person designated as its representative by its attorney, or (3) a person whose presence is shown by a party to be reasonably necessary to the presentation of the party's cause.

"The intent of ER 615 is 'to discourage or expose inconsistencies, fabrication, or collusion." *Skuza*, supra. ER 615 allows a party to seek to exclude witnesses, without limitation on the reason for the motion. Therefore, had counsel moved to exclude witnesses, the court would have undoubtedly granted the motion.

Allowing a State's witness to be present in courtroom during the entire case risks many dangers, including, but not limited to, the danger that the witness will be able to tailor his or her testimony to the testimony of witnesses appearing beforehand, by focusing on factual matters and inadequacies in the eyes of the fact-finder. See *State v. Skuza*; *Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Mountain, Inc.*, 93 Wn.2d 127, 138, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980).

The prejudice suffered by Ms. Minier due to counsel's failure to move to exclude witnesses is clear: Officer Stevens was able to talk with the State's witnesses immediately prior to their own testimony without sanction or recourse by the defense. The court correctly noted that counsel did not request exclusion of witnesses pursuant to ER 615, therefore defense counsel was unable to argue that a ruling of the court had been violated. Clearly, the failure to request exclusion of witnesses was not tactical because defense noted its objection in its request for dismissal.

The case was extremely fact-specific. The key issues involved the injury to Ms. Eaton during the altercation in the parking lot and the presence of items in the cart and bag. Officer Stevens testified that he saw and photographed an injury to Ms. Eaton's arm. The word "bite," presumably the injury sustained by Ms. Eaton, was one of the words that Mr. Henline stated that he overheard when Officer Stevens was talking with the witnesses in the hallway. The failure to request exclusion of witnesses left the door open for the type of mischief alleged by Mr. Henline, and left Ms. Minier without recourse in seeking sanctions had the court found a violation of ER 615.

The trial court has discretion to determine what sanction to impose for violation of an order excluding witnesses. *State v. Dixon*, 37 Wn.

App. 867, 877, 684 P.2d 725 (1984). The sanctions that would have been

available to counsel would include (1) holding the witness in contempt; (2)

allowing cross examination regarding the violation and/or comments about

the violation in closing argument; and (3) excluding the witness's testimony.

State v. Skuza, supra. Had the court excluded Ms. Eaton's testimony, it is

likely that there would have been insufficient evidence to support a

conviction.

Based on the foregoing, defense counsel's representation fell below

an objective standard of reasonableness, and here, the attorney's deficient

performance prejudiced the defendant such that there is a reasonable

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the

proceeding would have been different.

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Ms. Minier respectfully requests that her

convictions be reversed and dismissed.