NO. 47610-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

AUDRA MICHELLE MINIER, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.14-1-00143-6

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

FACTS

The State accepts the facts of the case as recited by Minier, but adds the following facts regarding the allegation of witness misconduct. Minier's fiancé claimed to have witnessed four state's witnesses speaking about the facts of the case outside the courtroom during a break in the proceedings. RP 65. Minier's attorney brought the allegation to the attention of the court, and the court questioned each of the witnesses about whether the allegation was true. Each of the witnesses, one of whom was Officer Stevens, informed the court that they did not discuss their testimony or the facts of the case. RP 66. The court then swore each of the witnesses in, and they each confirmed, under oath, they had not spoken about the case. RP 66. Minier made a motion to dismiss the case, and the trial court denied the motion based "...on the testimony that was provided—I don't believe there's an adequate basis for that." RP 71.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to dismiss.

Minier claims that the trial court abused its discretion in denying her motion to dismiss based on her (unfounded) allegation of witness misconduct. Minier's claim fails.

Minier moved to dismiss the case under CrR 8.3 (b). Specifically, Minier asked the trial court to find her husband, Mr. Henline, credible and find that the witnesses were speaking specifically about this case in the hallway. The trial court's ruling was not couched in the terminology of CrR 8.3 (b), but a fair reading of the court's remarks shows that the court found, "based on the testimony provided," that the claimed misconduct had not occurred, and that even if it had Minier had failed to show prejudice. In addition to Minier's basic failure to demonstrate that dismissal was warranted under CrR 8.3 (b), the court further noted that discussions between the witnesses about the case would not have constituted misconduct because the witnesses were not under order of the trial court not to speak to one another about the case, nor had witnesses even been excluded from the courtroom until such time as their testimony was complete.

¹ Although counsel for Minier didn't cite to CrR 8.3 (b) or articulate how the rule is to be applied, CrR 8.3 (b) is the only mechanism available to grant the relief sought by Minier.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the CrR 8.3 (b) motion to dismiss. CrR 8.3 (b) provides:

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

"Dismissal under this rule is an extraordinary remedy and is improper absent material prejudice to the rights of the accused." *State v. Moen*, 150 Wn.2d 221, 226, 76 P.3d 721 (2003), citing *State v. Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d 822, 830, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993); *City of Seattle v. Orwick*, 113 Wn.2d 823, 832 P.2d 161 (1989); *State v. Wilson*, 149 Wn.2d 1, 9, 65 P.3d 657 (2003). A trial court's decision on a motion to dismiss under the rule is reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997).

In support of her assignment of error, Minier now cites to *State v. Cory*, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963) and *State v. Granacki*, 90 Wn.App. 598, 90 P.2d 667 (1997), two cases which upheld the dismissal of criminal cases without the showing of prejudice that is ordinarily required to obtain a dismissal of a criminal case under CrR 8.3 (b). But *Cory* and *Granacki* are inapposite; those cases dealt with the intentional interception of confidential attorney/client communications by a

governmental agent. In Cory, the county sheriff and his deputies installed a microphone in the attorney/client meeting room in the jail, and surreptitiously recorded privileged communications. Cory at 372. The Supreme Court dismissed the case, holding that the defendant was entitled to relief even absent a specific showing of prejudice due to the "shocking and unpardonable conduct" of the government agents in that case. Corv at 378. In Granacki, a detective read defense counsel's private notes during a recess in trial, and also had improper contact with a juror. Granacki at 600-601. The trial court dismissed the case and the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal. Relying on the reasoning in Cory, supra, the Court of Appeals quoted Cory and Glasser v. United States, stating ""... [t]he right to have the assistance of counsel is too fundamental and absolute to allow courts to indulge in nice calculations as to the amount of prejudice arising from its denial." '" Granacki at 603, quoting Cory at 376 and Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 76, 62 S.Ct. 457 (1942). Notably, Minier did not cite these cases below.

Because her claim of prejudice is entirely speculative, Minier asks this Court to relieve her of her burden to show prejudice, arguing that the mere suggestion that State's witnesses spoke to one another during a trial compels not only a showing of outrageous governmental misconduct, but a presumption of prejudice. But even if this Court were to accept Minier's

invitation to treat this alleged misconduct in the same manner as intentional interceptions of privileged attorney/client communications, Minier ignores the fact that the trial court did not, in fact, find the alleged misconduct was committed. The lack of such a finding is fatal to Minier's claim.

The trial court did not manifestly abuse its discretion in denying Minier's motion to dismiss. Even if this alleged misconduct had occurred, which it didn't, Minier was required to demonstrate prejudice—which she has failed to do.

II. Minier was not denied effective assistance of counsel.

Minier claims that she was denied effective assistance of counsel when her attorney elected not to file a motion to exclude witnesses under ER 615. Minier claims that it was this failure on the part of her attorney that caused or allowed the alleged misconduct outside the courtroom. Minier's claim immediately fails because there was no misconduct outside the courtroom. The trial court decided this issue by making a credibility determination—the defendant's fiancé versus the four state's witnesses. The trial court concluded, based on the testimony he heard, that the State's witnesses did not discuss their testimony outside the courtroom. Because there was no misconduct on the part of the witnesses, defense counsel's decision not to move to exclude witnesses is irrelevant to this case.

It must also be observed that the misconduct Minier accuses the State's witnesses of committing would not have been prevented by an order excluding witnesses. Unless the trial court specifically instructs witnesses not to speak to one another about the case, the mere exclusion of witnesses under ER 615 would not have prevented the witnesses from speaking with one another outside the courtroom. Although lawyers generally understand that the two concepts are supposed to go hand in hand, there is no evidence in the record to suggest these witnesses would have understood an order excluding them from the courtroom as an order preventing them from speaking with one another about the case. Counsel's decision not to initially move for the exclusion of witnesses, simply put, has nothing to do with the allegation Minier makes in this case—that the State's witnesses not only spoke to one another about their testimony prior to giving it, but also lied to the court when directly asked about it. The trial court, as the finder of fact and sole judge of credibility on this question, found that the witnesses did not do what Minier accuses themboth here and below—of doing. There is substantial evidence in the record to support the court's finding on this point. Because counsel's decision not to move to exclude witnesses is irrelevant to Minier's claim, she cannot show deficient performance.

There is a strong presumption of effective representation of counsel, and the defendant has the burden to show that based on the record, there are no legitimate strategic or tactical reasons for the challenged conduct. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). "'Deficient performance is not shown by matters that go to trial strategy or tactics.' "*State v. Cienfuegos*, 144 Wn.2d 222, 227, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001) (*quoting State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996)).

As the Supreme Court explained in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 690, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984):

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.

Strickland at 689.

But even deficient performance by counsel "does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment." *Strickland* 691. A defendant must affirmatively prove prejudice, not simply show that "the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome." *Strickland* at 693. "In doing so, '[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *State v. Crawford*, 159 Wn.2d 86, 99-100, 147 P.3d 1288 (2006) (*quoting Strickland* at 694). When trial counsel's actions involve matters of trial tactics, the appellate court hesitates to find ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Jones*, 33 Wn.App. 865, 872, 658 P.2d 1262, review denied, 99 Wn.2d 1013 (1983). And the court presumes that counsel's performance was reasonable. *State v. Bowerman*, 115 Wn.2d 794, 808, 802 P.2d 116 (1990).

"Criminal defendants are not guaranteed 'successful assistance of counsel." State v. Dow, 162 Wn.App. 324, 336, 253 P.3d 476 (2011), quoting State v. Adams, 91 Wn.2d 86, 90, 586 P.2d 1168 (1978) and State v. White, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972). Not every error made by defense counsel that results in adverse consequences is prejudicial under Strickland, supra. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 43, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). Whether a "strategy ultimately proved unsuccessful is immaterial." Grier at 43, see also Dow, supra, at 336. Last, with respect to the deficient performance prong of Strickland, "hindsight has no place in an ineffective assistance analysis." Grier at 43.

Even if Minier can be said to have demonstrated deficient performance on the part of defense counsel for electing not to bring a

motion under ER 615, this assignment of error still fails. Because Minier has not even attempted to show prejudice, as noted above, she cannot demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel. Rather than articulate a claim of prejudice, Minier simply says "the prejudice is evident by virtue of the alleged contact with witnesses itself." Brief of Appellant at 12. This is insufficient to meet her burden of demonstrating prejudice. Minier later says the prejudice is "clear" because "Officer Stevens was able to talk with State's witnesses immediately prior to their own testimony without sanction or recourse by the defense." Brief of Appellant at 16. Yet again, Minier's claim is predicated upon something that did not happen. The trial court found that the witnesses did not talk about their testimony with one another prior to giving it. Minier has not assigned error to this finding. And because the finding is based entirely on a credibility determination, the finding cannot be disturbed on appeal. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

Minier fails to show either deficient performance of counsel or prejudice flowing from the claimed deficiency. Minier was not denied effective assistance of counsel.

CONCLUSION

Minier's conviction should be affirmed.